NAME Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani
PHONETICS geh-LAH-nee

KEY ALIAS(ES) Haytham al-Kini
AFFILIATION(S) Al-Qa‘ida
NATIONALITY Tanzanian

An al-Qa‘ida document forger and travel facilitator, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani—known in al-Qa‘ida circles as
Haytham al-Kini—rose in stature after 11 September 2001 1o become one of al-Qa’‘ida’s top forgers. Although
Ghailani was not directly involved in operational planning, he worked for the now-deceased Hamza Rabi’a—
then al-Qa‘ida’s chief of external operations—and forged or altered passports for many al-Qa‘ida members.
Most of his work involved substituting photos in passports and modifying visa stamps.

¢ Ghailani lived at various houses in North and South Waziristan in 2003 and 2004, which in conjunction with
his forgery work, allowed him to meet many high- and low-level al-Qa‘ida operatives.

Ghailani, born around 1974 in Zanzibar, Tanzania, i$ one of the FBI's Most Wanted terrorists and has been
indicted for his role in the East Africa Embassy bombings on 7 August 1998. Ghailani, who knew many of the
Africans involved in the attacks, originally met one of the operatives, Fahid Muhammad Ali Msalem, through
a mutual friend; he later befriended the rest of the group after he began traveling between Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania, and Mombasa, Kenya, transporting and selling various items and doing odd jobs. Msalem asked
Ghailani at various times to help the group purchase a truck, gas cylinders, and TNT that would later be used
to construct a car bomb, requests Ghailani fulfilled.

e  Ghailani and several other operatives moved to Afghanistan—which Ghailani had wanted to do for
several years—the day before the Embassy bombings.

e  After arriving in Afghanistan, Ghailani attended regular training at one of al-Qa‘ida’s camps and
served as a rank-and-file soldier. Ghailani eventually became a cook for Usama Bin Ladin before
joining a group of fellow Africans in 2001 who ran al-Qa‘ida’s document forgery office in Kandahar,
Afghanistan.

e Ghailani fled to Karachi, Pakistan, after the fall of the Taliban, but high-profile arrests in Karachi in
April 2003 convinced him to move o South Waziristan.



CHARGE SHEET

!. PERSONAL DATA

1. NAME OF ACCUSED:
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani

2. ALIASES OF ACCUSED:

Fupi, Haytham, Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed, and Sharif Omar

—
3. ISN NUMBER OF ACCUSED (LAST FOUR):
10012
. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS
4. CHARGE: VIOLATION OF SECTION AND TITLE OF CRIME IN PART IV OF M.M.C.

SPECIFICATION:

See Attached Charges and Specifications.

Hl. SWEARING OF CHARGES

5a. NAME OF ACCUSER (LAST, FIRST, MI) 5b. GRADE 5¢. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER

Cox, Dale J. E-8 Office of Military Commissions
N P e

5d. SIGNATUR 5e. DATE (YYYYMMDD)

7
ACCUSER

20080618

AFFIDAVIT: ﬁefore me, the u?e/rsigned, authorized by law to administer oath in cases of this character, personally appeared the above named
accuserthe ' 18th dayof / June 2008 | and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a person
subject to the Uniform Code of Military Justice and that he/she has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set forth therein and

that the same are true to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.

Robert J. Cotell

Office of Military Commissions

Typed Name of Officer

Colonel, U.S. Army

Organization of Officer

Judge Advocate

Grade

QSignat ure

(See R.M.C. 307(b) must be commissioned officer)

Official Capacity to Administer Oath

MC FORM 458 JAN 2007




V. NOTICE TO THE ACCUSED

the accused was notified of the charges against him/her {See R.M.C. 308).

20 June. 2008 | 130D

6. On

Tohmn M. M Adams 3. CS-AS oMy

Typed Name and Grade of Person Who Caused Organization of the Person Who Caused
Accused to Be Notified of Charges Accused to Be Notified of Charges

S{)&M \ ' \N"MC‘M,LSUA

Signature

V.RECEIPT OF CHARGES BY CONVENING AUTHORITY

7. The sworn charges were receivedat _163() houws,on 11 Auqust 2008 .at Arlington, VA

Location
For the Convening Autherity: Donna L. Wilkins
Typed Name of Officer
GS-15
Grade
i Signature
VI. REFERRAL
8b. PLACE 8¢. DATE (YYYYMMDD)

8a. DESIGNATION OF CONVENING AUTHORITY /
Convening Authority 10 USC §948h|Arlington, VA
20081003

Appointed on 6 Feb 2007

Referred for trial to the (non)capital military commission convened by military commission convening order 07-01 dated

1 March 2007, as amended by MCCO 07-05 dated 29 May 2007/
subject to the following instructions': this case is referred

non-capital
XX XK
Command, Order, or Direction
Susan J. Crawford Convening Authority 10 USC §948h
Typed Nay and Grade of Offigr Official Capacity of Officer Signing
Signaturei/ /
o Vil. SERVICE OF CHARGES
9. On ' | (caused to be) served a copy these charges on the above named accused.

Grade of Trial Counsel!

Typed Name of Trial Counse!

Signature of Trial Counsel

FOOTNQTES

'See R.M.C. 601 concerning instructions. If none, so state.
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CHARGE I: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(28), CONSPIRACY

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,”
“Haytham,” “Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and *‘Sharif Omar,” a person subject to
trial by military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, at various
locations, from in or about 1996 to on or about August 7, 1998, conspire and agree
with Usama bin Laden, Abdullah Ahmed Abdullah, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed,
Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan, Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam, Mustafa Mohamed
Fadhil, and various other members and associates of the al Qaeda organization,

known and unknown, erd-willfully-jein-an-enterprise-of persons-with-the-tntent-+o
shaé&g—a—eemmeﬂ-ﬁfm&ﬂ-a&-pafpeﬁﬂmewﬁﬁhe—&eease_dﬂto commit the following

offenses triable by military commission: murder of protected persons, attacking
civilians, attacking civilian objects, intentionally causing serious bodily injury,
murder in violation of the law of war, destruction of property in violation of the
law of war, and terrorism, resulting in the deaths of at least 11 personsy (See

Charge Sheet Appendix A for a complete list of persons killed in the bombingy: and that
the accused Knewthe unlawﬁull urgose_o# the agqreement ancl 'pingd wilifully, hatis, with the
WL

intent _to furifier the unla urpose . o )
In furtherance of this agreement and-enterprise, and in order to accomplish

some objective or purpose of the agreement erenterprise, the accused, Ahmed
Khalfan Ghailani, and his co-conspirators knowingly committed an overt act or
acts, including, but not limited to the following:

1. In or about August 1996, Usama bin Laden issued a public “Declaration of
Holy War Against the Americans Who are Occupying the Land of the Two
Holy Places,” in which he denounced the U.S. military presence in Saudi
Arabia and called for the murder of U.S. military personnel serving on the
Arabian Peninsula. He called on Muslims to force the “American '
occupier” out of the Arabian Peninsula “with all available means,” and
exhorted his followers to “kill it, fight it, destroy it, break it down, plot
against it, ambush it ... until it is gone.”

2. In or about March, 1997, in an interview with CNN, Usama bin Laden
promised to “drive Americans away from all Muslim countries,” and
warned the U.S. “to get out” if it did “not want to have its sons who are in
the army killed.” Usama bin Laden could “not guarantee” the “safety” of
U.S. civilians since they were “not exonerated from responsibility” for
U.S. foreign policy “because they chose the government and voted for it



despite their knowledge of its crimes.” He promised that if his demands
were unmet, he would send the U.S. “messages with no words because”
the U.S. President “does not know any words.”

. In or about February 1998, Usama bin Laden and others, under the banner
of the “International Islamic Front for Jihad against the Jews and the
Crusaders,” issued a fatwah (purported religious ruling) claiming that it
was “God’s order” and an “individual duty for every Muslim” to “kill
Americans ... wherever and whenever” found. The fatwah directed all
Muslims to “kill the Americans and their allies, civilians and military.”

. On or about May 28, 1998, in an interview with ABC News in
Afghanistan, Usama bin Laden reiterated the February 1998 fatwah’s call
for killing Americans, emphasizing that, “We do not differentiate between
those dressed in military uniforms and civilians. They are all targets in this
fatwah.” Usama bin Laden further stated that if his demands were not met,
al Qaeda would “send” to the U. S. “the wooden boxes and the coffins”
containing “the corpses of American troops and the American civilians.”
Bin Laden also noted that “American civilians were asked to gather
information on Muslims and observant Muslim youth and to convey to the
security section in the embassy.”

. On or about May 29, 1998, Usama bin Laden issued a statement entitled,
“The Nuclear Bomb of Islam,” under the banner of the “International
Islamic Front for Fighting Jews and Crusaders,” in which bin Laden stated
that “it is the duty of the Muslims to prepare as much force as possible to
terrorize the enemies of God.”

. In the latter part of 1997, Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam and one other
individual provided a telephone number and address to Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani so that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani could make contact with a co-
owner of a mining company in Arusha, Tanzania for the purpose of
purchasing TNT.

. In or about December 1997, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani purchased a
cellular telephone, cellular telephone service, and cellular telephone
number 328848 at the request of, and with money provided by, Mustafa
Mohamed Fadhil. This telephone was used to facilitate communications
for the group responsible for the bombing of the United States Embassy in
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.



8. On several occasions between 1997 and August 1998, Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani traveled to Arusha, Tanzania, where he obtained TNT, detonators
and detonation cord from a co-owner of a mining company, and
transported them to Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

9. In the latter part of 1997 and during 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani
stored TNT, detonators and detonation cord at his residence located at 15
Amani, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

10.In or about January 1998, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed rented 22
Kidugalo, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. In or about March or April of 1998,
Mustafa Mohamed Fadhil moved into 22 Kidugalo with Khalfan Khamis
Mohammed. '

11.At various times in mid-1998, Mustafa Mohamed Fadhil, Khalfan Khamis
Mohammed, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan,
and Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam met at Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani’s
residence located at 15 Amani, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

12.In or about June 1998, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed and Fahid Mohammed
Ally Msalam purchased a white Suzuki Samurai (the Suzuki Samurai) at a
location in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

13.In or about June 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani and Fahid Mohammed
Ally Msalam transported TNT in the Suzuki Samurai to 22 Kidugalo, Dar
es Salaam, Tanzania.

14.In or about June 1998, Mustafa Mohamed Fadhil and Khalfan Khamis
Mohammed rented house number 213 in the Tlala District of Dar es
Salaam, Tanzania.

15.In or about June 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani and Fahid Mohammed
Ally Msalam transported TNT in the Suzuki Samurai from 22 Kidugalo to
213 llala, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

16.0n or about June 18, 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani applied for and
subsequently obtained a Tanzanian passport for himself using the alias
Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed. ‘



17.In or about July 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani traveled to Mormbasa,
Kenya and met with Abdullah Ahmed Abdullah, known to Ahmed
Khalfan Ghailani as both “Saleh” and “Abu Mohamed Al-Masri.”
Abdullah Ahmed Abdullah rcquested that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani
escort an “Egyptian brother” known to Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani as
“Ahmad” (the suicide driver) from Mombasa, Kenya to Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania.

18.In or about July 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani escorted the suicide
driver from Mombasa, Kenya to Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. At the border
crossing between Kenya and Tanzania, the suicide driver used a Tunisian
passport. Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani was instructed not to take the suicide
driver to his residence at 15 Amani. Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani ultimately
checked the suicide driver into the Al Noor Hotel in Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania. The suicide driver used his Tunisian passport in the name of
Jamil bin Abdelkader Belaid to register at the Al Noor Hotel.

19.In or about July 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani accompanied Sheikh
Ahmed Salim Swedan to the Al Noor hotel in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania to
negotiate the purchase price of a Nissan Atlas refrigeration truck (bomb
truck) and to finalize the purchase of the bomb truck.

20.In or about July 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani and Fahid Mohammed
Ally Msalam purchased oxygen and acetylene tanks, which were used as
bomb components, in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania and transported them to the
213 Ilala house in the Suzuki Samurai. ’

21.In or about July 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani assisted in assessing the
condition of the bomb truck. Thereafter, Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan
arranged for mechanical repairs of the bomb truck at various locations in
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.

22.In or about July 1998, Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan requested alterations
to the bomb truck in order to accommodate the bomb. These alterations
included the addition of steel bars which were welded and bolted inside the
cargo area in order to provide a frame to hold the cylinder tanks upright,
and to provide a base for two large batteries which were used to initiate the
electric detonators.




23.In or about July 1998, Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan purchased two large
truck batteries from a location in Dar es Salaam Tanzania. These batteries
were used to initiate the electric detonators.

24.In or about July or August 1998, the bomb truck’s refrigeration unit was
removed and Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani took the unit to an auto parts store
located in Dar es Salaam.

25.In or about late July 1998 to early August 1998, Abdul Rahman al Muhajer
(the bomb engineer), came to 213 Ilala to supervise the bomb assembly.

26.1n or about late July 1998, in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, Khalfan Khamis
Mohammed, Mustafa Mohamed Fadhil, Abdul Rahman al Muhajer (the
bomb engineer), and the suicide driver ground the TNT in a domestic flour
- mill at 213 Ilala.

27.1In or about late July and early August 1998, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed,
Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam, Mustafa Mohamed Fadhil, Abdul
Rahman al Muhajer (the bomb engineer) and the suicide driver met at 213
Ilala in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, and loaded boxes of TNT, cylinder tanks,
batteries, detonators, fertilizer, and sand bags into the back of the Dar es
Salaam bomb truck.

28.In or about late July 1998 to early August 1998, the bomb engineer armed
the bomb which included wiring and connecting the bomb components.
The bomb engineer connected the wires to the two truck batteries located
on a platform in the back of the truck, and the detonators to a button in the
cab area of the bomb truck.

29.In or about late July 1998 to early August 1998, Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani escorted the bomb engineer from 213 Ilala Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania to Kenya by bus.

30.1n or about late July to early August 1998, during the taxi ride from 213
Ilala to the bus station to board a bus which would transport them to
Kenya, the bomb engineer requested that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani
instruct the taxi driver to drive past the United States Embassy in Dar es
Salaam, Tanzania. Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani instructed the taxi driver to
drive them to some shops located just past the United States Embassy in
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani did not mention the



United States Embassy to the taxi driver because Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani did not want the taxi driver to link the two of them to the United
States Embassy in Dar es Salaam.

31.0n or about August 1, 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani checked into the
Hilltop Hotel in Nairobi, Kenya under the alias Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed.
In or about the first week of August 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, the
bomb engineer, Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam, and Abdullah Ahmed
Abdullah met with other co-conspirators at the Hilltop Hotel in Nairobi,
Kenya.

32. Sometime between June 1998 and August 1998, Fahid Mohammed Ally
Msalam gave Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani an airline ticket to Pakistan in
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani’s alias of Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed.

33.In or about the first week of August 1998 while at the Hilltop Hotel,
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani received an envelope from Abdullah Ahmed
Abdullah, who Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani knew as both Abu Mohamed Al
Masri and Saleh, with instructions to deliver the envelope to Khalfan
Khamis Mohammed in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani returned to Dar es Salaam, Tanzania by bus, and hand-delivered
the envelope to Khalfan Khamis Mohammed at 213 llala. The envelope
contained telephone numbers to dial if Khalfan Khamis Mohammed
required assistance.

34.When Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani delivered the envelope to Khalfan
Khamis Mohammed, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed told Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani that the suicide driver was a very brave man who would be killed
in the bomb truck.

35.0n or about August 2, 1998, Sheikh Ahmed Salim Swedan and Mustafa
Mohamed Fadhil left Nairobi, Kenya, on Pakistan International Airlines
Flight Number 744 to Karachi, Pakistan.

36.0n or about August 4, 1998, the suicide driver noticed that the rear wheels
of the bomb truck had sunk in the sand inside the 213 Ilala house
compound. The suicide driver and Khalfan Khamis Mohammed worked to
free the bomb truck from the sand. To ensure the bombing mission would
not fail, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed made arrangements for a tow truck
to be available to pull the bomb truck free from the sand in the event it
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became stuck on the day of the bombing of the United States Embassy Dar
es Salaam, Tanzania.

37.0n or about August 5 and 6, 1998, a co-conspirator madc calls to the
Hilltop Hotel in Nairobi, Kenya, from a location in Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania, utilizing the cell telephone purchased by Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani.

38.In or about early August 1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani told his
roommate that he was leaving Dar es Salaam for Mombasa, and that he had
a reserved a flight for August 6, 1998, to travel from Nairobi, Kenya to
Yemen.

39.0n or about August 6, 1998, Abdullah Ahmed Abdullah, who was also
known to Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani both as Abu Mohamed al Masri and
Saleh, the bomb engineer and Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, under the alias
Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed, left Nairobi, Kenya, for Karachi, Pakistan, on
Kenya Airways Flight Number 310.

40.0n or about August 6, 1998, Fahid Mohammed Ally Msalam left Nairobi,
Kenya, for Karachi, Pakistan, on Pakistan International Airways flight
Number 746.

41.0n or about August 7, 1998, Khalfan Khamis Mohammed instructed his
nephew to take the domestic flour mill which was used to grind TNT, and
other items from the 213 Ilala house, and give the items to Khalfan Khamis
Mohammed’s sister. Khalfan Khamis Mohammed further instructed his
nephew to tell his sister to clean the domestic flour mill because it had
been used for “unclean things.”

42.0n or about August 7, 1998, at approximately 10:40 a.m., the suicide
driver detonated an explosive device, along with oxygen and acetylene
tanks and truck batteries, contained in a Nissan Atlas Refrigeration truck,
in the vicinity of the United States Embassy building located in Dares
Salaam, Tanzania, severely damaging the United States Embassy building,
and causing the deaths of at least eleven (11) persons, and serious bodlly
injuries and injuries to a number of persons.

43.0n or about August 8, 1998, al Qaeda claims of responsibility for the
embassy bombings in the name of the “Islamic Army for the Liberation of



the Holy Places” were published by world-wide media. One of the claims
of responsibility stated that the Dar es Salaam bombing was carried out by
an Egyptian national.

CHARGE II: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(1), MURDER OF
PROTECTED PERSONS

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, ak.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict,
unlawfully and intentionally kill eleven (11) persons, each of whom enjoyed the
status of a “protected person” within the meaning of the Military Commissions Act
of 2006, § 950v(a)(2)(A), knowing or having reason to know the factual
circumstances that established their status as protected persons, by bombing the
United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. (See Charge Sheet Appendix
A for a complete list of protected persons killed in the bombing.)

CHARGE III: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(15), MURDER IN
VIOLATION OF THE LAW OF WAR

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, ak.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”

“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed contlict,
unlawfully and intentionally kill eleven (11) persons in violation of the law of war,
by bombing the United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. (See Charge
Sheet Appendix A for a complete list of persons killed in the bombing.)

’ - o 13 s 2 L _ X
rl S Q.h.d., OrpT; Ty ¢

“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to tetal by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant-¢id, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and assoctated with armed conflict, attempt
to unlawfully and intentionally kill persers, each of whom enjoyed the status of a
“protected person” within the-m€aning of the Military Commissions Act of 2006,

§ 950v(a)(2)(A), krowing or having reason to know the factual circumstances that
establishedTheir status as protected persons, by bombing the United States
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“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subjectTo trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy-eotfibatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context-ofand associated with armed conflict, attempt
to unlawfully and intertronally kill persons in violation of the law of war, by

bombing-tte United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, in violation of 10

U.ST 3 950V(157.

|V CHARGE‘%VIOLATION OF 10 US.C. § 950v(2), ATTACKING

G

CIVILIANS

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict, engage
in an attack, intending the object of the attack to be a civilian population as such,
and individual civilians not taking active part in hostilities, located in and around
the United States Embassy, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, by bombing the United
States Embassy, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, knowing or having reason to know the
factual circumstances that established their civilian status, resulting in the deaths of
eleven (11) civilians. (See Charge Sheet Appendix A for a complete list of

- civilians killed in the bombing.)

'Y &4) CHARGE ¥ VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(3), ATTACKING

CIVILIAN OBJECTS

- Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”

“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict,
intentionally engage in an attack upon a civilian object, that is, property that was
not a military objective, to wit, the United States Embassy, Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania, by bombing the United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania,
intending such civilian property to be the object of the attack, knowing or having
reason to know that such property was not a military objective.



o

Qle/' (}c5 CHARGE MT1: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(13), INTENTIONALLY

é‘
&

CAUSING SERIOUS BODILY INJURY

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict,
intentionally cause and inflict serious injury to the body or health of one or more -
persons, with unlawful force and violence, in violation of the law of war, by
bombing the United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. (See Charge
Sheet Appendix B for a list of names of some persons who suffered serious bodily

injury.)
vI-

&V (fB CHARGE VHT? VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(16), DESTRUCTION OF
> {

g

PROPERTY IN VIOLATION OF THE LAW OF WAR

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict,
intentionally destroy property belonging to the United States Government without
the consent of the United States Government, by bombing the United States
Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, in violation of the law of war.

. JQ/ 64’ CHARGEFX: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(24), TERRORISM
D \J

b

o~

-

Specification: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, on or about
August 7, 1998, while in the context of and associated with armed conflict,
intentionally kill and inflict great bodily harm on one or more protected persons,
and engage in an act that evinced a wanton disregard for human life, in a manner
calculated to influence and affect the conduct of the United States Government and
civilian population by intimidation or coercion and to retaliate against United
States Government conduct, by bombing the United States Embassy in Dar es
Salaam, Tanzania, resulting in the deaths of at least 11 persons. (See Charge Sheet
Appendix A for a complete list of protected persons killed in the bombing. See
Charge Sheet Appendix B for a list of names of some protected persons who

suffered great bodily harm.)
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CHARGE X: VIOLATION OF 10 U.S.C. § 950v(25), PROVIDING
MATERIAL SUPPORT FOR TERRORISM

Specification 1: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a.k.a., “Fupi,”
“Haytham,” “Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to
trial by military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, at various
locations, from in or about 1997 to on or about August 7, 1998, while in the
context of and associated with armed conflict, knowingly and intentionally provide
material support and resources to be used in preparation for, and in carrying out an
act of terrorism, to wit, the bombing of the American Embassy in Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania, which occurred on August 7, 1998.

The accused, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, provided material support and
resources to be used in preparation for, and in carrying out the bombing of the
American Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, which occurred on August 7,
1998, which includes but is not limited to the following:

The Government hereby incorporates overt acts numbered 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 13,
15,16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 38, and 39, listed in Charge I, as
the material support and resources provided by Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani for the
August 7, 1998 bombing of the United States Embassy in Dar es Salaam,
Tanzania. |

Specification 2: In that Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani, a k.a., “Fupi,” “Haytham,”
“Abubakar Khalfan Ahmed,” and “Sharif Omar,” a person subject to trial by
military commission as an alien unlawful enemy combatant, did, at various
locations, from on or about August 8, 1998, until on or about July 25, 2004, while
in the context of and associated with armed conflict, intentionally and knowingly
provide material support and resources to al Qaeda, an international terrorist
organization founded by Usama bin Laden, and known by the accused to be an
organization that engages in terrorism, said al Qaeda having engaged in hostilities
against the United States, including, but not limited to, an attack against the United
States Embassy in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania in August 1998.

The accused provided material support and resources to al Qaeda
including, but not limited to, the following:

1. During approximately a three month period between August and December
1998, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani attended basic training at the al Farouq
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training camp, an al Qaeda sponsored and operated camp located in - -
Afghanistan. Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani’s training consisted of instruction
in the use of rifles, pistols, hand grenades, anti-aircraft weapons, rocket
propelled grenades, and explosives, as well as training in tactics,
mountaineering, map reading, compass use and physical fitness.

. Between the end of 1998 and approximately March or April 1999, for
approximately four or five months, and following completion of his al
Qaeda basic training, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani traveled from Khowst to
Kabul, Afghanistan, where he joined a front-line al Qaeda unit fighting
with the Taliban against the Northern Alliance.

. From the front line, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani returned to the al Farouq.
camp in 1999. The al Farouq camp had moved to the Charasyab area near
Kabul. After returning to the camp, for approximately one week in 1999,
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani attended advanced explosives training.

.. For approximately one year from 1999 to 2000, at the al Farouq camp,
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani served as a physical fitness trainer during
which time he trained more than one hundred persons.

. While a physical fitness trainer at al Farouq camp from approximately

1999 to 2000, Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani took advanced tactical training
utilizing pistols and AK 47’s, as well as specialized training in the use of
circuit boards.

. During a period of time between 2000 and 2001, Ahmed Khalfan
Ghailani served as a personal bodyguard and cook to Usama bin Laden.
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani carried an AK 47 during his time as a
bodyguard for Usama bin Laden.

. During a period of time between 2001 until on or about July 25, 2004,
Ahmed Khalfan Ghailani served as an al Qaeda document forger,
preparing passports, identification documents and travel documents for
“brothers,” including “brothers” who required such documentation in order
to carry out “operations” on behalf of al Qaeda, knowing that such
“operations” involved acts of terrorism which would result in deaths.
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CHARGE SHEET APPENDIX A

The following eleven (11) persons, all of whom were “protected persons” and
“civilians” as those terms are defined in the M.C.A., were killed as a result of the
bombing of the United States Embassy, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, on or about
August 7, 1998: '

ABDURAHMAN ABDULLA
ELIAS ELISHA

HASSAN SIYAD HALANE
RAMADHANI MAHUNDI
ABDALLAH MOHAMED
ABAS WILLIAM MWILA
SHAMTE YUSUPH NDANGE
OMARI YUSUFU NYUMBU
. MTENDEJE RAJABU

10. SAID ROGATHI

11. DOTTO SELEMANI

WXk w =
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After 11 September.

After 11 September. And who did you live with in Pakistan?

Ah- sometime I live with ah — one-one brother, his name was Shabib.
Was he a member of al Qaida? Or trained with you at al Farouq?

No, no. He was not a member of al Qaida, but he was a relative to Khalid
Sheikh Mohammed. He’s real active. So I stay with him. And when I was
in Pakis---ah- another--- last time, before I captured, I was living with one
brother Pakistani. His name was Abu Tareq Pakistani.

Did you meet Usama Bin Laden or did you meet Khalid Sheikh
Mohammad?

Where, when I was in Pakistan or when I was in Afghanistan?
Either.

In Afghanistan, I met them all.

You met them all.

Yes.

Did you ever swear allegiance, bay’at to
No.

Usama bin Laden.

No.

Nothing further.

I’m sorry. [for delay].

CALLING OF WITNESSES

We will now allow for the calling of witnesses. All witnesses called before
this Tribunal may be questioned by the Detainee, the Personal
Representative may also question the witnesses as well as the Recorder and
the Tribunal Members.

Does the Recorder have any witnesses to present?

ISN # 10012
Enclosure (3)
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RECORDER:

PRESIDENT:

DETAINEE:
PRESIDENT:
DETAINEE:

PRESIDENT:

DETAINEE:
PRESIDENT:
DETAINEE:
TRANSLATOR:

PRESIDENT:

UNCLASSIFIED

No, Sir.

From the Detainee Election Form and earlier I was informed that the
Detainee wished the production of a particular witness. I’ll now explain to
you, AHMED KHALFAN GHAILANI, the decisions that I made relative to
the production of that witness and then if you have any questions, I’ll be
happy to answer them for you. You requested the production of Khalfan
Khamis Mohammad. The detainee believed that Khalfan is in U.S. custody
and that the detainee also believed that if called, this witness could provide
testimony relating to the detainees actions ah- at, particularly as set forth in
paragraph 3-e of the unclassified summary of evidence related to fertilizer
and the assembly of the bomb. Additionally today, the detainee informed
the Tribunal that he believed that Khalfan Khamis Mohammad would say
that perhaps he was confused about which Ahmed he was talking about.
That it might have been a different Ahmed.

Not him Khalfan, the one that asked him about the question.

I see, but Khalfan would be able to explain that.
Yes.

Alright. On February 22™ of this year, when I was informed of this, I
determined that testimony would be relevant to these proceedings and I
requested that the Tribunal staff attempt to locate Khalfan Khamis
Mohammad to see if he will be willing to provide testimony to this Tribunal.
He was located and he is indeed ah- incarcerated in a federal facility in the
United States. His representatives were contacted and were asked to
determine whether Khalfan Khamis Mohammad wished to provide
testimony to this Tribunal on your behalf. Because he was incarcerated and
incapable of coming to this island —

Can I ask a question?

Yes, go ahead.

What means incarcerated?

[Translator explains meaning to detainee].

[Speaking for the record]. The translator provided a translation of the word
incarcerated for the benefit of the detainee.

[Continuing] I, at that point determined that he was not reasonably available
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UNCLASSIFIED

to travel to attend this Tribunal because he was elsewhere and could not be
free to travel. I then determined that alternatives to his testimony would be
acceptable and requested the staff members of this Tribunal to obtain a
statement from him in response to your explanation as to what you thought
he would say. When he was approached, through his representatives, he
declined to provide any statements for you in these proceedings. He did not
wish to participate. However, indicating that at some future proceeding, if
there is another proceeding in your case, that he may decide to cooperate at
that point. This Tribunal does not have the power to compel him to make
him come and testify nor does it have the power to tell him to write a
statement. So for those reasons, he is not reasonably available. Nor are
there alternative means available to this Tribunal to receive his evidence or
testimony. Do you have any questions regarding the Tribunal’s ruling in
this matter?

No questions.

Do you understand the reasons why your witness could not be present here
today?

I understand.
Very well.

FINAL DETAINEE STATEMENT

AHMED KHALFAN GHAILANLI, this concludes the presentation of
unclassified information to the Tribunal. We are about to conclude the
unclassified portion of this hearing. Do you wish to make any final
statement to the Tribunal?

I don’t have any question, any-any statements but [ would like to apologize
to the United States Government for what I did before. In helping them
because I helped but although it wasn’t — it was without my knowledge what
they were doing but [ helped them. So I apologize to the United States
Government for what I did. And I’m sorry for what happened to those
families who lost, who lost their friends and their beloved ones. That is all.

Thank you. I understand.

CLOSING UNCLASSIFIED SESSION

All unclassified evidence having been provided to the Tribunal, this
concludes the open tribunal session. AHMED KHALFAN GHAILANI
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shall be notified of the Tribunal decision upon completion of the review of
these proceedings by the Combatant Status Review Tribunal Convening
Authority in Washington, D.C. If the Tribunal determines that you should
not be classified as an enemy combatant, you will be released to your home
country as soon as arrangements can be made. If the Tribunal determines
you’re classified as an enemy combatant, you may be eligible for an
Administrative Review Board hearing at a future date. The Administrative
Review Board will make an assessment of whether there is continued reason
to believe that you pose a threat to the United States or its coalition partners
in the ongoing armed conflict against terrorist organizations such as al Qaida
and its affiliates and supporters or whether there are other factors bearing
upon the need for continued detention. You will have the opportunity to be
heard and to present relevant information to the Administrative Review
Board. You can present information from your family and friends that
might be helpful to you at the Board. You are encouraged to contact them
as soon as possible to begin to gather information that may be helpful to
you. A military officer will be assigned at a later date to assist you in the
Administrative Review Board process.

ADJOURN OPEN SESSION

PRESIDENT: The open session of this Tribunal hearing is adjourned.
RECORDER: The time is 0910 hours, the date is 17 March 2007. All rise.

AUTHENTICATION

I certify the material contained in this transcript is a true and accurate verbatim rendering of the
proceedings and the testimony given during the Combatant Status Review Tribunal of ISN
10012

[REDACTED], CAPT JAGC USN
Tribunal President
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